
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	

Entry 1 School Information and Cover Page 

(New schools that were not open for instruction for 

the 2018-19 school year are not required to complete 

or submit an annual report this year). 
Created: 07/25/2019 • Last updated: 08/28/2019 

Please be advised that you will need to complete this cover page (including signatures) before all of the 

other tasks assigned to you by your authorizer are visible on your task page. While completing this cover 
page task, please ensure that you select the correct authorizer (as of June 30, 2019) or you may not be 

assigned the correct tasks. 

BASIC INFORMATION 

a. SCHOOL NAME SOUTH BRONX EARLY COLLEGE ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 

(Select name from the drop down menu) 

a1. Popular School Name SBECA 

(Optional) 

b. CHARTER AUTHORIZER (As of Regents Authorized Charter School 
June 30th, 2019) 

Please select the correct authorizer as of 
June 30, 2019 or you may not be 

assigned the correct tasks. 

c. DISTRICT / CSD OF LOCATION NYC CSD 8 

d. DATE OF INITIAL CHARTER 12/2013 

e. DATE FIRST OPENED FOR 08/2015 

INSTRUCTION 

1 / 8 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

f. APPROVED SCHOOL MISSION (Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE authorized 

schools only) 

MISSION STATEMENT 

The South Bronx Academy Mission Statement 

The South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School will provide a rigorous and comprehensive liberal 
arts education to students in the South Bronx through a challenging, New York State (NYS) Common Core 

standards aligned curriculum. SBECA will establish a learning environment that emphasizes 

differentiation and personalization of instruction and a student centered and fully inclusive approach to 

teaching and learning. Students will graduate from SBECA prepared for success in college and for active 

and thoughtful citizenship. 

g. KEY DESIGN ELEMENTS (Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE authorized schools 

only) 
KEY DESIGN ELEMENTS (Brief heading followed by a description of each Key Design Elements 

(KDE). KDEs are those general aspects of the school that are innovative or unique to the school’s 

mission and goals, are core to the school’s overall design, and are critical to its success. The 

design elements may include a specific content area focus; unique student populations to be 

served; specific educational programs or pedagogical approaches; unique calendar, schedule, or 
configurations of students and staff; and/or innovative organizational structures and systems. 

Variable 1 Student Centered Learning
SBECA will provide a student centered learning environment
that is tied to the Common Core Learning Standards.
Through our individualized learning time throughout each
week, students will access the content at their level and 
given access to the resources needed to succeed. 

Variable 2 Project Based Learning
Students will be engaged in project based learning
techniques in their classrooms. When appropriately tied to
the curriculum, students will take part in collaborating with
peers on projects that are rigorous and standards based. 

Variable 3 Higher Education Partnerships
At SBECA we have strong partnerships with universities such
as Fordham University and NYU that strengthen our school
for both the students and staff. We are creating a
relationship with future teachers while educating our
students in college practices and collegiate life. 

Variable 4 Standards Aligned Instruction
We anchor our instruction in the Common Core standards. 
We utilize standards aligned curriculum and frequently
assess and analyze data to monitor progress. We have
quarterly interim assessments created in house as well as 

2 / 8 



	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	

the utilization of the I Ready Diagnostic. 

Variable 5 Wrap Around Student Support
Through our strong partnership with WHEDco, SBECA offers
strong social emotional support throughout the school day
and beyond. We provide additional services to our families
and students through a robust social emotional learning 
program. 

Variable 6 Offering a Whole Child Approach
We are committed to engaging every child in learning. To
that end, we offer a robust music, arts, computer science
and physical education program that includes urban
gardening and taekwondo. Through engaging the scholars in
activities that go beyond the traditional classroom we are
working to create thoughtful socially engaged citizens and
community members. 

Variable 7 Data Driven Approach
We are committed to collect and analyze data to utilize for
student improvement. We analyze everything from standards
mastery to lateness, attendance, and student intervention
data. We believe data collection and use should be 
purposeful and the students should know and understand
their data and growth. 

Variable 8 An Emphasis on Literacy
We are committed to growing our students in literacy
throughout all content areas. Navigating text has been a
staple of schools of the past; and even with a boom in
technological innovation remains crucial to gaining
knowledge in the present and future. We promote reading
and writing throughout all curriculum and content areas. 

Variable 9 Small school culture and extended year
We will have a maximum enrollment of 326 students during
the charter term. Also, the extended school year (190 days)
will provide opportunities for increased instruction and
additional support. 

Variable 10 Comprehensive college preparation and opportunities for
early college
We will prepare students for entry into and success in college
by providing a strong
educational foundation and ongoing support and by being an
early high school experience. Our students take high school
level regents courses which will allow them more
opportunities in high school to take college and advance
placement courses. 

Need additional space for No 

variables 
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h. SCHOOL WEB ADDRESS (URL) https://sbecacs.org/ 

i. TOTAL MAX APPROVED 326 

ENROLLMENT FOR THE 2018-19 

SCHOOL YEAR (exclude Pre-K 

program enrollment) 

j. TOTAL STUDENT ENROLLMENT 

ON JUNE 30, 2019 (exclude Pre-K 

program enrollment) 

324 

k. GRADES SERVED IN SCHOOL YEAR 2018-19 (does not include Pre-K program 

students) 
Check all that apply 

Grades Served 6, 7, 8 

l1. DOES THE SCHOOL CONTRACT No 

WITH A CHARTER OR 

EDUCATIONAL MANAGEMENT 

ORGANIZATION? 

FACILITIES INFORMATION 

m. FACILITIES 

Will the school maintain or operate multiple sites in 2019-20? 

No, just one site. 

School Site 1 (Primary) 

4 / 8 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	

	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	
	 	

	
	

	 	
	 	

	 	
	

	
	 	

	
	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	

	

	

	

	

	 	

m1. SCHOOL SITES 

Please provide information on Site 1 for the upcoming school year. 

Physical Address 

801 E 156th 
Site 1 Street, Bronx, 

NY 10455 

Phone Number 

929 291 7700 

District/CSD Grades to be Receives Rental 
Served at Site Assistance for 
for coming year Which Grades (If
(K 5, 6 9, etc.) yes, enter the

NYC CSD 8 6,7,8 

m1a. Please provide the contact information for Site 1. 

School 
Leader 

Operati
onal 
Leader 

Complia 
nce 
Contact 

Complai 
nt 
Contact 

DASA 
Coordin 
ator 

Phone 
Contact 
for After 
Hours 
Emerge
ncies 

Name 

Brian Blough 

Mahelia Mighty 

Mahelia Mighty 

Mahelia Mighty 

Jillian WIlliams 

Brian Blough 

m1b. Is site 1 in public (co-
located) space or in private 

space? 

Work Phone Alternate Phone 

Private Space 

appropriate
grades. If no,
enter No). 

Yes 

Email Address 
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IF LOCATED IN PRIVATE SPACE IN NYC OR IN DISTRICTS OUTSIDE NYC 

m1d. Upload a current Certificate of Occupancy (COO) and the annual Fire Inspection 

Report for school site 1 if located in private space in NYC or located outside of NYC . 

Site 1 Certificate of Occupancy (COO) 

https://nysed cso reports.fluidreview.com/resp/110065575/yFPTXS6fVy/ 

Site 1 Fire Inspection Report 

https://nysed cso reports.fluidreview.com/resp/110065575/nBJtmqxAKU/ 

CHARTER REVISIONS DURING THE 2018-19 SCHOOL YEAR 

n1. Were there any revisions to Yes 

the school’s charter during the 

2018-19 school year? (Please 

include approved or pending 

material and non-material 
charter revisions). 

6 / 8 



	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	

	 	
	 	

	 	
	

	
	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	
	 	

	
	 	 	

	
	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	

n2. Summary of Charter Revisions 

Category (Select Best
Description) 

Change in
1 organizational 

structure 

Change in2 schedule/calendar 

3 

4 

5 

More revisions to add? 

ATTESTATION 

Specific Revision
(150 word limit) 

Our org chart was
revised to align with
the original charter. It
was a non material 
change. 

We revised our daily
school schedule to 
align with our original
charter, to maximize 
instructional time, 
and to allow a 
professional
development block
each week for the 
staff. This was a non
material change. 

No 

Date Approved by Date Approved by
BOT (if applicable) Authorizer (if

applicable) 

June 7th, 2018 October 30th, 2018 

July 12, 2018 August 24th, 2018 

o. Individual Primarily Responsible for Submitting the Annual Report. 

Name Brian Blough 

Position Principal 

Phone/Extension  

Email  

7 / 8 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	

p. Our signatures (Executive Director/School Leader/Head of School and Board 

President) below attest that all of the information contained herein is truthful and 

accurate and that this charter school is in compliance with all aspects of its charter, 
and with all pertinent Federal, State, and local laws, regulations, and rules. We 

understand that if any information in any part of this report is found to have been 

deliberately misrepresented, that will constitute grounds for the revocation of our 

charter. Check YES if you agree and then use the mouse on your PC or the stylist on 

your mobile device to sign your name). 

Yes 

Signature, Head of Charter School 

Signature, President of the Board of Trustees 

Date 2019/07/31 

Thank you. 
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Entry 2 NYS School Report Card Link 
Created: 07/15/2019 • Last updated: 07/25/2019 

1. CHARTER AUTHORIZER (As of 
June 30th, 2019) 

(For technical reasons, please re select 
authorizer name from the drop down 

menu). 

2. NEW YORK STATE REPORT 

CARD 

Provide a direct URL or web link 

to the most recent New York 

State School Report Card for the 

charter school (See 

https://reportcards.nysed.gov/). 

(Charter schools completing year 
one will not yet have a School 
Report Card or link to one. Please 

type "URL is not available" in the 

space provided.) 

REGENTS Authorized Charter School 

https://data.nysed.gov/essa.php? 
instid=800000082489&year=2018&createreport=1&allchecke 

d=1&OverallStatus=1&section_1003=1&EMindicators=1&EMc 
omposite=1&EMgrowth=1&EMcompgrowth=1&EMelp=1&EMp 

rogress=1&EMchronic=1&EMpart=1&staffqual=1&expend=1& 

38ELA=1&38MATH=1&48SCI=1&regents=1&nyseslat=1&nysa 

a=1&feddata=1 

1 / 1 



	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	
	

	 	
	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	
	

	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	
	 	
	 	 	
	 	

	 	
	 	

	 	
	 	

	 	
	 	 	
	 	

	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	

	
	 	

	 	 	
	 	

	 	
	 	

	
	

	 	

Entry 3 Progress Toward Goals 
Created: 07/31/2019 • Last updated: 11/02/2019 

PROGRESS TOWARD CHARTER GOALS 

Board of Regents authorized and NYCDOE authorized charter schools only. Complete the tables provided. 
List each goal and measure as contained in the school’s currently approved charter, and indicate whether 
the school has met or not met the goal. Please provide information for all goals by November 1st. 

1. ACADEMIC STUDENT PERFORMANCE GOALS 

If performance data is not available by August 1st, please state this in the last column and update by 

November 1st. 

2018-19 Progress Toward Attainment of Academic Goals 

Academic Student Measure Used to 
Performance Goal Evaluate Progress

Toward Attainment of 
Goal 

Goal Met or Not Met Indicate if data is not 
available. If/when
available, Describe 
Efforts School Will 
Take If Goal Is Not 
Met 

(Partially Met, Math
reached this goal,
reading did not)
SBECA increased our 
proficiency rates in
the spring 2019
assessment. In ELA 
the proficiency scores
increased from 26% 
to 28% narrowing the
gap between the
school and our 
district. In Math from 
16% to 37%* this 
number is better than 
our district. These 
increases 
demonstrate forward 
movement that will 
continue in the 2019
2020 school year. 

Teachers are utilizing
Illuminate to give
weekly assessments
and receive 
immediate data to 
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ELA and Mathematics 
Goal SBECA students 
will become 

Academ 
ic Goal 
1 

proficient in reading
and writing and in
Mathematics. The 
School will beat the 

NYSED Assessments. Not Met 

district (CSD 8) in
number of students 
proficient. 

respond and react to,
in conjunction with
the interim 
assessment data and 
i Ready data. 

Read 180 and Math 
180 are used in ILT 
(individualized
Learning Time) to
provide individualized
student support as
well as the I Ready
system. The I Ready
diagnostic was given
in the first week of 
school as well as a 
writing baseline. 

Teachers were 
trained in these tools. 
The school has also 
moved to an ICT 
(integrated co
teaching) model. This
increase in targeted,
structured support
has yielded
immediate results. 

The leadership team
continued the use of 
the Kim Marshall 
method of mini 
observations. 
Kim Marshall has 
continued working
with the team 
through on sight
support to build
observation and 
feedback cycle.
Teachers have 
reported via
interviews and 
survey that they feel
supported and will
grow as educators
through this process. 

*This number 
includes the the 73% 
of 8th grade students 
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that scored proficient
on the Algebra 1 
regents. 

Academ 
ic Goal 
2 

Each year, at least
60% of all 
accountability
subgroups of middle
school students who 
have been 
continuously enrolled
for two years will be
proficient on the NYS
ELA and Math tests. 

NYSED Assessments. Not Met 

Each year, 75% of
Middle School The 8th Grade State students who have 

Our ELLs have shown 
growth beating our
district numbers, our 
Special Education
students have not yet
shown this growth,
however, systems
have been 
restructured and per
i Ready many
students have grown
from level 1's to level 
2's and this year we
are optimistic that
many of these
students will move 
into grade level
proficiency. Teachers
retention rates were 
very high, this too
will increase growth
in our subgroups. Co
teaching proficiency,
differentiation and 
skill levels continue 
to rise. 

We also had a large
number of our 
students with 
disabilities and ELLs 
pass the algebra 
regents. 

All above measures 
for Goals 1 & 2 also 
apply for goal 3.
SBECA utilizes co
teaching for Social
Studies and Science 
classes as it does for 
ELA and Math. 
Teachers also hold 
interim and weekly
assessments and 
track and utilize data. 
In the 2019 
assessments, the 
students reached 

3 / 7 



	 	

	
	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	

	 	

	
	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	

	
	 	

	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	
	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	

	

	 	 	
	 	

	 	
	 	

	
	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	

	 	 	
	

	 	
	 	

	 	
	 	
	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	
	 	 	

	 	
	 	 	
	 	
	

	
	 	

	
	 	

	

	 	 	
	 	
	 	
	
	

	

	 	
	 	 	

	 	
	 	

	 	 	
	 	

	 	

	
	 	

	 	 	 	
	

	 	
	 	
	 	

3 

Academ 
ic Goal 

Academ 
ic Goal 
4 

Academ 
ic Goal 

been enrolled at 
SBECA for one or 
more years will be
proficient in Science
and Social Studies. 

Each year, at least
60% of all 
accountability
subgroups of middle
school students who 
have been 
continuously enrolled
for two years will be
proficient on Science
and Social Studies 
assessments. 

SBECA will be in 
"Good Standing" and
achieve its federal 
Adequate Yearly
Progress Targets. 

Science Assessment, 
US History Regents
and Internal Interim 
Assessments. 

The 8th Grade State 
Science Assessment, 
US History Regents
and Internal Interim 
Assessments. 

NYS Assessments 

Not Met 

Met 

much higher levels of
proficiency than in
previous years. For
example, for the 8th
grade Science test in
2018 17% of 
students were 
proficient, whereas in
2019 53% scored a 
proficient.
For US History, 2% of
students that took 
the assessment 
scored a proficient
score in 2018, and in 
2019, 26% of 
students were 
proficient. 

Our ELL teachers 
push into Science
and Social Studies as 
well as ELA and Math, 
providing translating
materials as well. 

We have co teaching
in all Social Studies 
and Science classes. 
The teachers 
differentiate their 
plans and all
planning materials
are reviewed by
leadership. 

The school will 
continue to grow and
follow best practices.
The school will 
continue with the ICT 
model and continue 
to teach rigorous,
standards aligned
lessons. 
SBECA will continue 
to seek and listen to 
the authorizer 
suggestions, and use
internal and external 
supports to measure
effectiveness. 

Academ 

4 / 7 
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ic Goal 
6 

Academ 
ic Goal 
7 

Academ 
ic Goal 
8 

Academ 
ic Goal 
9 

Academ 
ic Goal 
10 

2. Do have more academic goals 

to add? 

No 

3. Do have more academic goals 

to add? 

No 

4. ORGANIZATIONAL GOALS 

2018-19 Progress Toward Attainment of Organizational Goals 

Organizational Goal Measure Used to 
Evaluate Progress 

Goal Met or Not Met If Not Met, Describe 
Efforts School Will 
Take 

Academic growth hasThe school will Org happened during therestructure itself to Academic growth. Met Goal 1 restructure in both align with its charter. reading and math. 

Org Stability in staff Staff retention Met Goal 2 retention. numbers. 

Nearly all staff is
retained. Staff 
express feeling
happy and satisfied
at the school. The 
leadership team
works tirelessly to
develop and inspire
staff and staff is 
surveyed and
constantly asked
what they want to 
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learn and develop in. 

Org
Goal 3 

Org
Goal 4 

Org
Goal 5 

Org
Goal 6 

Org
Goal 7 

Org
Goal 8 

Org
Goal 9 

Org
Goal 10 

Org
Goal 11 

Org
Goal 12 

Org
Goal 13 

Org
Goal 14 

Org
Goal 15 

Org
Goal 16 

Org
Goal 17 

Org
Goal 18 

Org
Goal 19 

Org
Goal 20 
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5. Do have more organizational No 

goals to add? 

6. FINANCIAL GOALS 

2018-19 Progress Toward Attainment of Financial Goals 

Financia 
l Goal 1 

Financia 
l Goal 2 

Financia 
l Goal 3 

Financia 
l Goal 4 

Financia 
l Goal 5 

Financial Goals 

The school will have 
a clean and 
successful audit. 

Measure Used to 
Evaluate Progress 

Independent audit. 

7. Do have more financial goals No 

to add? 

Thank you. 

Goal Met or Not Met 

Met 

If Not Met, Describe 
Efforts School Will 
Take 

The school has had a 
clean and successful 
independent audit. 
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Entry 4 Expenditures per Child 
Created: 07/25/2019 • Last updated: 07/30/2019 

SOUTH BRONX EARLY COLLEGE ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOLSection Heading 

Financial Information 

This information is required of ALL charter schools. Provide the following measures of fiscal 
performance of the charter school in Appendix B (Total Expenditures and Administrative Expenditures 

Per Child): 

1. Total Expenditures Per Child 

To calculate ‘Total Expenditures per Child’ take total expenditures (from the unaudited 2018-
19 Schedule of Functional Expenses) and divide by the year end FTE student enrollment. 
(Integers Only. No dollar signs or commas). 

Note: The information on the Schedule of Functional Expenses on pages 41–43 of the 

Audit Guide can help schools locate the amounts to use in the two per pupil 
calculations: Audit Guide available within the portal or on the NYSED website 

at: http://www.p12.nysed.gov/psc/regentsoversightplan/otherdocuments/auditguide2018.pdf. 

Line 1: Total Expenditures 8466050 

Line 2: Year End FTE student enrollment 326 

Line 3: Divide Line 1 by Line 2 25969 

1 / 2 



	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		

		
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	

2. Administrative Expenditures per Child 

To calculate ‘Administrative Expenditures per Child' To calculate “Administrative Expenditures per 
Child” first add together the following: 

1. Take the relevant portion from the ‘personnel services cost’ row and the ‘management and general’ 
column (from the unaudited 2018 19 Schedule of Functional Expenses) 

2. Any contracted administrative/management fee paid to other organizations or corporations 

3. Take the total from above and divide it by the year end FTE enrollment. The relevant portion that must 
be included in this calculation is defined as follows: 

Administrative Expenditures: Administration and management of the charter school includes the 

activities and personnel of the offices of the chief school officer, the finance or business offices, school 
operations personnel, data management and reporting, human resources, technology, etc. It also 

includes those administrative and management services provided by other organizations or corporations 
on behalf of the charter school for which the charter school pays a fee or other compensation. Do not 
include the FTE of personnel whose role is to directly support the instructional program. 

Notes: 
The information on the Schedule of Functional Expenses on pages 41–43 of the Audit Guide 

can help schools locate the amounts to use in the two per pupil calculations: 
http://www.p12.nysed.gov/psc/AuditGuide.html. 
Employee benefit costs or expenditures should not be reported in the above calculations. 

Line 1: Relevant Personnel Services 
Cost (Row) 

Line 2: Management and General Cost
(Column) 

Line 3: Sum of Line 1 and Line 2 

Line 5: Divide Line 3 by the Year End
FTE student enrollment 

Thank you. 

1369718 

1608550 

2978268 

9136 

2 / 2 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

Board of Trustees 

South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School 

Bronx, New York 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of South Bronx Early College Academy 

Charter School, which comprise the statements of financial position as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, 

and the related statements of activities, functional expenses and cash flows for the years then ended, 

and the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 

includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 

and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 

conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 

Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 

free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 

includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our audit opinion. 



 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

  

  

   

    

   

 

 

   

   

  

 

  

  

 

   

   

      

    

    

   

     

    

    

      

    

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

 

Board of Trustees 

South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School 

Page 2 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School, as of June 30, 2019 and 

2018, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Emphasis of Matter 

As described in Note 9 to the financial statements, during the year ended June 30, 2019, South Bronx 

Early College Academy Charter School adopted ASU 2016-14, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958): 

Presentation of Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities. Our opinion is not modified with 

respect to this matter. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audits were performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a 

whole. The accompanying supplementary information within the statements of functional expenses is 

presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. 

Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 

underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information 

has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the financial statements and 

certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 

underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial 

statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 

generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in 

all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we also have issued our report dated October 30, 

2019, on our consideration of South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School’s internal control 

over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 

contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the 

scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that 

testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of South Bronx Early College Academy 

Charter School’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral 

part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering South 

Bronx Early College Academy Charter School’s internal control over financial reporting and 

compliance. 

New York, New York 

October 30, 2019 



 

  

  
 

  

 

 

 

South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School 
Statements of Financial Position 

June 30, 2019 and 2018 

2019 2018

Assets

Current Assets

Cash 1,141,147$         303,437$            

Certificates of deposit 314,298              300,000              

Grants and contracts receivable 53,780                176,128              

Prepaid expenses and other receivables 12,448                56,119                

Total current assets 1,521,673           835,684              

Cash - reserve 100,105              75,065                

Security deposits 174,950              172,950              

Property and equipment, net 899,932              826,607              

Total assets 2,696,660$         1,910,306$         

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 75,875$              63,283$              

Accrued salaries and related liabilities 864,341              655,071              

Total current liabilities 940,216              718,354              

Deferred rent 783,692              401,678              

Total liabilities 1,723,908           1,120,032           

Net Assets

Without donor restrictions 937,041              743,949              

With donor restrictions 35,711                46,325                

Total net assets 972,752              790,274              

Total liabilities and net assets 2,696,660$         1,910,306$         

See Notes to Financial Statements 3 



 

  

  
 

  

 

 

 

South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School 
Statements of Activities 

Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 

Without Donor With Donor Without Donor With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total Restrictions Restrictions Total

Operating Revenues and Other Support

State and local per-pupil operating revenues -

resident student enrollment 4,985,617$        -$                       4,985,617$        4,726,872$        -$                       4,726,872$        

State and local per-pupil operating revenues -

students with disabilities 1,631,090          -                         1,631,090          1,350,528          -                         1,350,528          

Government grants and contracts 1,969,404          -                         1,969,404          1,806,560          -                         1,806,560          

Contributions 11,494               -                         11,494               -                         -                         -                         

Other revenues 12,162               -                         12,162               9,086                 -                         9,086                 

Net assets released from restrictions 10,614               (10,614)              -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total operating revenues and 

other support 8,620,381          (10,614)              8,609,767          7,893,046          -                         7,893,046          

Expenses

Program services

Education 4,341,459          -                         4,341,459          4,515,760          -                         4,515,760          

Special education 2,496,210          -                         2,496,210          2,044,423          -                         2,044,423          

Total program services 6,837,669          -                         6,837,669          6,560,183          -                         6,560,183          

Supporting services

Management and general 1,571,490          -                         1,571,490          1,549,405          -                         1,549,405          

Fundraising 18,130               -                         18,130               23,792               -                         23,792               

Total supporting services 1,589,620          -                         1,589,620          1,573,197          -                         1,573,197          

Total expenses 8,427,289          -                         8,427,289          8,133,380          -                         8,133,380          

Change in Net Assets 193,092             (10,614)              182,478             (240,334)            -                         (240,334)            

Net Assets, Beginning of Year 743,949             46,325               790,274             984,283             46,325               1,030,608          

Net Assets, End of Year 937,041$           35,711$             972,752$           743,949$           46,325$             790,274$           

2019 2018

See Notes to Financial Statements 4 



 

  

  
 

  

 

 

 
  

South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School 
Statements of Functional Expenses 

Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 

**

No. of Special Management

Positions Education Education Total and General Fundraising Total Total

Administrative staff 11 276,561$          109,269$          385,830$          591,246$          8,742$              599,988$          985,818$          

Instructional personnel 44 1,657,513         1,027,414         2,684,927         -                        -                        -                        2,684,927         

Non-instructional personnel 2 -                        -                        -                        94,143              -                        94,143              94,143              

Total salaries 57 1,934,074         1,136,683         3,070,757         685,389            8,742                694,131            3,764,888         

Payroll taxes and employee benefits 687,830            404,248            1,092,078         243,750            3,109                246,859            1,338,937         

Contracted services 172,770            76,508              249,278            1,017                -                        1,017                250,295            

Professional fees -                        -                        -                        140,416            -                        140,416            140,416            

Occupancy 1,051,840         618,181            1,670,021         372,747            4,754                377,501            2,047,522         

Repairs and maintenance 16,435              9,659                26,094              5,824                74                     5,898                31,992              

Instructional supplies and materials 74,722              29,522              104,244            -                        -                        -                        104,244            

Office supplies and equipment 116,164            68,271              184,435            41,155              525                   41,680              226,115            

Insurance 18,951              11,138              30,089              6,716                86                     6,802                36,891              

Depreciation and amortization 143,685            84,446              228,131            50,917              649                   51,566              279,697            

Board and staff development 34,798              20,452              55,250              16,234              157                   16,391              71,641              

Student and staff recruitment 7,621                4,479                12,100              2,702                34                     2,736                14,836              

Field trip and other events 51,422              20,317              71,739              -                        -                        -                        71,739              

Food 18,957              7,490                26,447              -                        -                        -                        26,447              

Miscellaneous expenses 12,190              4,816                17,006              4,623                -                        4,623                21,629              

Total expenses 4,341,459$       2,496,210$       6,837,669$       1,571,490$       18,130$            1,589,620$       8,427,289$       

** Supplementary information

2019

Program Services Supporting Services

See Notes to Financial Statements 5 



 

  

  
 

  

 

 

 
 

South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School 
Statements of Functional Expenses (Continued) 

Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 

**

No. of Special Management

Positions Education Education Total and General Fundraising Total Total

Administrative staff 11 264,573$          94,805$            359,378$          648,995$          13,261$            662,256$          1,021,634$       

Instructional personnel 49 2,089,310         981,948            3,071,258         -                        -                        -                        3,071,258         

Non-instructional personnel 2 -                        -                        -                        98,653              -                        98,653              98,653              

Total salaries 62 2,353,883         1,076,753         3,430,636         747,648            13,261              760,909            4,191,545         

Payroll taxes and employee benefits 635,039            290,490            925,529            201,702            3,578                205,280            1,130,809         

Contracted services 176,637            71,371              248,008            1,204                21                     1,225                249,233            

Professional fees -                        -                        -                        191,446            -                        191,446            191,446            

Occupancy 888,990            406,657            1,295,647         282,363            5,008                287,371            1,583,018         

Repairs and maintenance 24,340              11,134              35,474              7,732                137                   7,869                43,343              

Instructional supplies and materials 98,626              35,341              133,967            -                        -                        -                        133,967            

Office supplies and equipment 100,050            45,766              145,816            31,778              564                   32,342              178,158            

Insurance 38,898              17,794              56,692              12,355              219                   12,574              69,266              

Depreciation and amortization 151,331            69,224              220,555            48,066              853                   48,919              269,474            

Board and staff development 11,032              5,047                16,079              5,394                62                     5,456                21,535              

Student and staff recruitment 15,773              7,215                22,988              5,010                89                     5,099                28,087              

Miscellaneous expenses 21,161              7,631                28,792              14,707              -                        14,707              43,499              

Total expenses 4,515,760$       2,044,423$       6,560,183$       1,549,405$       23,792$            1,573,197$       8,133,380$       

** Supplementary information

2018

Program Services Supporting Services

See Notes to Financial Statements 6 



 

  

  
 

  

 

 
 

South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School 
Statements of Cash Flows 

Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 

2019 2018

Operating Activities

Change in net assets 182,478$            (240,334)$          

Items not requiring (providing) cash

Depreciation and amortization 279,697              269,474              

Changes in

Grants and contracts receivable 122,348              185,298              

Prepaid expenses and other receivables 43,671                13,256                

Security deposits (2,000)                (105,515)            

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 12,592                (23,571)              

Accrued salaries and related liabilities 209,270              290,423              

Due to New York City Department of Education -                         (60,605)              

Refundable advance -                         (351)                   

Deferred rent 382,014              401,678              

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,230,070           729,753              

Investing Activities

Purchase of property and equipment (353,022)            (526,522)            

Purchase of certificates of deposit (14,298)              -                         

Cash - reserve (25,040)              (25,037)              

Net cash used in investing activities (392,360)            (551,559)            

Net Change in Cash 837,710              178,194              

Cash, Beginning of Year 303,437              125,243              

Cash, End of Year 1,141,147$         303,437$            

See Notes to Financial Statements 7 



 

  
 

  

 

 

 

    

  

   

       

      

      

    

 

   

 

    

       

 

    

  

  

  

 

 

  

   

  

 

   

 

   

 

  

  

   

    

 

South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2019 and 2018 

Note 1: Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Nature of Operations 

South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School (the School) is an educational corporation 

that operates as a charter school in the Borough of Bronx, New York. On December 17, 2013, the 

Board of Regents and the Board of Trustees of the State University of New York, on behalf of the 

State Education Department, granted the School a charter valid for a term of five years after the 

School opens for instruction (expiring June 30, 2020) and renewable upon expiration. The School 

was granted a charter for grades 6-8. 

The School was organized to create a learning environment that emphasizes differentiation and 

personalization of instruction and a student-centered and fully inclusive approach to teaching and 

learning. This focus on the learner as an individual allows the School to serve the demographic of 

students from the South Bronx neighborhood it serves. The School served 326 students in 2019 

and 2018. 

The School is supported primarily by state and local per-pupil operating revenues and government 

grants and contracts. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 

liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, 

gains, losses and other changes in net assets during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 

from those estimates. 

Cash 

At June 30, 2019, the School’s cash accounts exceeded federally insured limits by approximately 

$1,090,000. 

Certificates of Deposit 

Certificates of deposit have maturity dates of more than three months and are considered 

investments for purposes of cash flow reporting. 

Cash – Reserve 

As part of the School’s charter agreement, the School agreed to establish a long-term reserve 

account to pay for legal and audit expenses that would be associated with a dissolution should it 

occur. 
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South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2019 and 2018 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

Bad debt expense is charged if a receivable is determined to be uncollectible based on periodic 

review by management. Factors used to determine whether an allowance should be recorded 

include the age of the receivable and a review of payments subsequent to year end. Management 

deemed no allowance necessary for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment acquisitions over $1,000 are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation 

and amortization. Depreciation and amortization is charged to expense on the straight-line basis 

over the estimated useful life of each asset. Assets under leasehold improvements are amortized 

over the shorter of the lease term or respective estimated useful lives. 

The estimated useful lives for each major depreciable classification of property and equipment are 

as follows: 

Computer equipment 3 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Leasehold improvements 20 years

Long-Lived Asset Impairment 

The School evaluates the recoverability of the carrying value of long-lived assets whenever events 

or circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If a long-lived asset is 

tested for recoverability and the undiscounted estimated future cash flows expected to result from 

the use and eventual disposition of the asset are less than the carrying amount of the asset, the asset 

cost is adjusted to fair value and an impairment loss is recognized as the amount by which the 

carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. No asset impairment was recognized 

during the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018. 

Net Assets 

Net assets, revenues, gains and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of donor 

restrictions. Net assets without donor restrictions are available for use in general operations and 

not subject to donor restrictions. Net assets with donor restrictions are subject to donor restrictions. 

Some restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those that will be met by the passage of time or 

other events specified by the donor. 

State and Local Per-Pupil Operating Revenues 

Revenues from the state and local governments resulting from the School’s charter status and based 

on the number of students enrolled are recorded when services are performed in accordance with 

the charter agreement. These grants are recorded as revenue by the School when services are 

rendered. 
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South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2019 and 2018 

Grants and Contracts Revenue and Receivables 

Revenues from government grants and contracts to which the School is entitled are recognized 

mostly on student enrollment. Some grants are provided for specific educational endeavors which 

are not based on student enrollment and are recorded when related expenditures are incurred by the 

School. Receivables are recorded when the revenue is earned. 

Contributions 

Contributions are provided to the School either with or without restrictions placed on the gift by the 

donor. Revenues and net assets are separately reported to reflect the nature of those gifts – with or 

without donor restrictions. The value recorded for each contribution is recognized as follows: 

Nature of the Gift Value Recognized 

Conditional gifts, with or without restriction 

Gifts that depend on a future and uncertain Not recognized until the gift becomes 

event unconditional, i.e., the donor imposed 

condition is substantially met 

Unconditional gifts, with or without restriction 

Received at date of gift – cash and other assets Fair value 

Received at date of gift – property, equipment Estimated fair value 

and long-lived assets 

Expected to be collected within one year Net realizable value 

Collected in future years Initially reported at fair value determined 

using the discounted present value of 

estimated future cash flows technique 

In addition to the amount initially recognized, revenue for unconditional gifts to be collected in 

future years is also recognized each year as the present-value discount is amortized using the level-

yield method. 

When a donor stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net assets 

with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the 

statements of activities as net assets released from restrictions. Absent explicit donor stipulations 

for the period of time that long-lived assets must be held, expirations of restrictions for gifts of 

land, buildings, equipment and other long-lived assets are reported when those assets are placed in 

service. 

Gifts and investment income that are originally restricted by the donor and for which the restriction 

is met in the same time period are recorded as revenue with donor restrictions and then released 

from restriction. 

10 



 

  
 

  

 

 

 

  

    

  

  

 

      

    

    

    

   

    

 

 

  

     

 

 

South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2019 and 2018 

Deferred Rent 

Operating leases are straight-lined over the term of the lease. Deferred rent has been recorded for 

the difference between the fixed payment and the rent expense. 

Income Taxes 

The School is exempt from income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and 

a similar provision of state law. However, the School is subject to federal income tax on any 

unrelated business taxable income. The School files tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction. 

Functional Allocation of Expenses 

The costs of supporting the various programs and other activities have been summarized on a 

functional basis in the statements of activities. The statements of functional expenses present the 

natural classification detail of expenses by function. Certain costs have been allocated among the 

program, management and general and fundraising categories based on estimates of time and effort 

and other methods. 

Note 2: Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment at June 30, 2019 and 2018 consists of: 

2019 2018

Computer equipment 618,292$            573,363$            

Furniture and fixtures 380,172              365,160              

Leasehold improvements 645,511              352,430              

1,643,975           1,290,953           

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (744,043)            (464,346)            

899,932$            826,607$            

11 



 

  
 

  

 

 

 

  

   

  

  

 

   

    

      

 

  

   

  

    

  

 

      

       

      

 

  

  

   

 

  

   

      

   

   

  

South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2019 and 2018 

Note 3: Lease Commitment 

The School entered into a lease agreement for classroom space that is effective through June 30, 

2035, with an option to renew for four additional five-year periods. The future minimum payments 

under this lease are: 

2019-2020 1,550,000$         

2020-2021 1,596,500           

2021-2022 1,644,395           

2022-2023 1,693,727           

2023-2024 1,744,539           

Thereafter 21,866,748         

30,095,909$       

Rent expense for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was $1,832,010 and $1,504,178, 

respectively. Rent is being expensed on the straight-line method over the term of the lease. 

Deferred rent as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 was $783,692 and $401,678, respectively. 

Note 4: Pension 

The School’s faculty participates in the Teachers Retirement System of the City of New York 

(TRS) pension plan. Pension expense in 2019 and 2018 was $325,000 and $250,000, respectively. 

Total accrued TRS pension liability at June 30, 2019 and 2018 was $606,621 and $499,233, 

respectively, and is included in accrued salaries and related liabilities on the statements of financial 

position. 

The School has a 403(b) pension plan for all full-time employees who are not eligible for the TRS 

plan. The School contributes 10% of each participant’s compensation. Pension expense for the 

403(b) Plan for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was $136,573 and $99,654, respectively. 

Note 5: Significant Estimates and Concentrations 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require disclosure of 

certain significant estimates and current vulnerabilities due to certain concentrations. Those 

matters include the following: 

Grants and Contracts 

Certain grants and contracts may be subject to audit by the funding sources. Such audits might 

result in disallowances of costs submitted for reimbursement. Management is of the opinion that 

such cost disallowances, if any, will not have a material effect on the accompanying financial 

statements. Accordingly, no amounts have been provided in the accompanying financial 

statements for such potential claims. 

12 



 

  
 

  

 

 

 

    

   

 

  

      

  

   

     

 

 

  

      

 

 

 

 

  

  

   

 

 

 

    

    

  

 

 

South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2019 and 2018 

A significant portion of the School’s operating revenue is paid by New York State Education 

Department. Additionally, all grants and contracts receivable due at year end were due from the 

New York State Education Department. 

General Litigation 

The School is subject to claims and lawsuits that arose primarily in the ordinary course of its 

activities. It is the opinion of management the disposition or ultimate resolution of such claims and 

lawsuits will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position, change in net assets and 

cash flows of the School. Events could occur that would change this estimate materially in the near 

term. 

Note 6: Net Assets with Donor Restrictions 

Net assets with donor restrictions of $35,711 and $46,325 as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, 

respectively, are restricted for the music education program. During the year ended June 30, 2019, 

$10,614 was released from restrictions for the music education program.  During the year ended 

June 30, 2018, no net assets were released from restrictions by incurring expenses satisfying the 

restricted purposes. 

Note 7: Liquidity and Availability 

Financial assets available for general expenditure, that is, without donor or other restrictions 

limiting their use, within one year of June 30, 2019, comprise the following: 

Cash 1,141,147$         

Certificates of deposit 314,298              

Grants and contracts receivable 53,780                

Total financial assets 1,509,225           

Funds with donor imposed restrictions (35,711)              

Financial assets available to meet cash needs 

for general expenditures within one year 1,473,514$         

The School manages its liquidity and reserves following three guiding principles: operating within 

a prudent range of financial soundness and stability, maintaining adequate liquid assets to fund 

near-term operating needs and maintaining sufficient reserves to provide reasonable assurance that 

long-term obligations will be discharged. The School monitors liquidity and cash flows on an 

ongoing basis to ensure an appropriate amount of cash and cash equivalents are available to meet 

current expenditure needs. 

13 



 

  
 

  

 

 

 

  

      

 

 

  

   

   

    

    

       

    

   

 

    

  

    

  

  

  

   

 

South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2019 and 2018 

Note 8: Subsequent Events 

Subsequent events have been evaluated through October 30, 2019, which is the date the financial 

statements were available to be issued. 

Note 9: Change in Accounting Principle 

During the year ended June 30, 2019, the School adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 

2016-14, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958): Presentation of Financial Statements of Not-for-

Profit Entities. A summary of the changes is as follows: 

Statement of Financial Position 

• The statement of financial position distinguishes between two new classes of net assets – those 

with donor-imposed restrictions and those without. This is a change from the previously 

required three classes of net assets – unrestricted, temporarily restricted and permanently 

restricted. 

Statements of Activities and Functional Expenses 

• Expenses are reported by both nature and function in one location. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

• Enhanced quantitative and qualitative disclosures provide additional information useful in 

assessing liquidity and cash flows available to meet operating expenses for one year from the 

date of the statement of financial position. 

This change had no impact on previously reported total change in net assets. 

14 



 

  
 

  

 

 

 

   

   

  

     

     

    

 

   

  

 

  

  

     

 

   

     

   

     

     

  

    

     

   

  

    

    

   

   

   

   

  

 

 

 

South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2019 and 2018 

Note 10: Future Accounting Changes 

Revenue Recognition 

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) amended its standards related to revenue 

recognition. This amendment replaces all existing revenue recognition guidance and provides a 

single, comprehensive revenue recognition model for all contracts with customers. The guidance 

provides a five-step analysis of transactions to determine when and how revenue is recognized. 

Other major provisions include capitalization of certain contract costs, consideration of the time 

value of money in the transaction price and allowing estimates of variable consideration to be 

recognized before contingencies are resolved in certain circumstances. The amendment also 

requires additional disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash 

flows arising from customer contracts, including significant judgments and changes in those 

judgments and assets recognized from costs incurred to fulfill a contract. The standard allows 

either full or modified retrospective adoption effective for annual periods beginning after 

December 15, 2018 for nonpublic entities. The School is in the process of evaluating the impact 

the amendment will have on the financial statements. 

Accounting for Leases 

FASB amended its standard related to the accounting for leases. Under the new standard, lessees 

will now be required to recognize substantially all leases on the balance sheet as both a right-of-use 

asset and a liability. The standard has two types of leases for income statement recognition 

purposes: operating leases and finance leases. Operating leases will result in the recognition of a 

single lease expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term similar to the treatment for 

operating leases under existing standards. Finance leases will result in an accelerated expense 

similar to the accounting for capital leases under existing standards. The determination of lease 

classification as operating or finance will be done in a manner similar to existing standards. The 

new standard also contains amended guidance regarding the identification of embedded leases in 

service contracts and the identification of lease and nonlease components in an arrangement. The 

new standard is effective for the School annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019 and any 

interim periods within annual reporting periods that begin after December 15, 2020. However, a 

board decision was reached by FASB to delay the effective date of Topic 842 by one year for 

certain types of organizations, which would include the School. Issuance of a final accounting 

standards update related to this decision is expected in late 2019. The School is evaluating the 

impact the standard will have on the financial statements; however, the standard is expected to 

have an impact on the financial statements due to the recognition of additional assets and liabilities 

for operating leases. 
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Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and 
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed 

in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Board of Trustees 

South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School 

Bronx, New York 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 

Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of South 

Bronx Early College Academy Charter School, which comprise the statement of financial position as 

of June 30, 2019, and the related statements of activities, functional expenses and cash flows for the 

year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon 

dated October 30, 2019. Our report contained an “Emphasis of Matter” paragraph regarding a change 

in accounting principles. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered South Bronx Early 

College Academy Charter School’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to 

determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing 

our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School’s internal control. Accordingly, 

we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of South Bronx Early College Academy Charter 

School’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 

management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 

detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 

combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 

material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 

corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 

in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention 

by those charged with governance. 
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Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 

this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 

weaknesses or significant deficiencies, and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 

may exist that have not been identified. 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether South Bronx Early College Academy 

Charter School’s financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its 

compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, 

noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial 

statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 

objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 

disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 

Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 

compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 

accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 

compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

New York, New York 

October 30, 2019 
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South Bronx Early College Academy Charter Sch 
Statement of Financial Position 

as of June 30 

2019 

CURRE T ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,141,147 
Grants and contracts receivable 53,780 
Accounts receivables -
Prepaid Expenses 12,448 
Contributions and other receivables -
Other current assets 314,298 

TOTAL CURRE T ASSETS  1,521,673 

 O -CURRE T ASSETS 
Property, Building and Equipment, net $ 899,932 
 estricted Cash 100,105 
Security Deposits 174,950 
Other Non-Current Assets -

TOTAL  O -CURRE T 1,174,987 
ASSETS 

TOTAL ASSETS 2,696,660 

CURRE T LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 75,875 
Accrued payroll, payroll taxes and benefts 864,341 
Current Portion of Loan Payable -
Due to  elated Parties -
 efundable Advances -
Deferred  evenue -
Other Current Liabilities -

TOTAL CURRE T 940,216
LIABILITIES 

LO G-TERM LIABILITIES 
Loan Payable; Due in More than One Year $ -
Deferred  ent 783,692 
Due to  elated Party -
Other Long-Term Liabilities -

TOTAL LO G-TERM 783,692 
LIABILITIES 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,723,908 



                  
                      

                               
 

             

 ET ASSETS 
Unrestricted 
Temporarily restricted 
Permanently restricted 

TOTAL  ET ASSETS

$ 937,041 
35,711 

-
972,752 

TOTAL LIABILITIES A D  ET ASSETS 2,696,660 



    
   
   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

                  
                    
                               
                      
                               

                    

                  
                      
                    

                               

          

                    
                    
                               
                               
                               
                               

                               

                             
                    
                               

                               

South Bronx Early College Academy hool 
Statement of Financial Po  

as of June 30 

2018 

CURRE T ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 303,437 
Grants and contracts receivable 176,128 
Accounts receivables -
Prepaid Expenses 56,119 
Contributions and other receivables -
Other current assets 300,000

TOTAL CURRE T ASSETS 835,684 

 O -CURRE T ASSETS 
Property, Building and Equipment, net $ 826,607 
 estricted Cash 75,065 
Security Deposits 172,950 
Other Non-Current Assets -

TOTAL  O -CURRE T 1,074,622 
ASSETS 

TOTAL ASSETS 1,910,306 

CURRE T LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 63,283 
Accrued payroll, payroll taxes and benefts 655,071 
Current Portion of Loan Payable -
Due to  elated Parties -
 efundable Advances -
Deferred  evenue -
Other Current Liabilities -

TOTAL CURRE T 718,354
LIABILITIES 

LO G-TERM LIABILITIES 
Loan Payable; Due in More than One Year $ -
Deferred  ent 401,678 
Due to  elated Party -
Other Long-Term Liabilities -

TOTAL LO G-TERM 401,678 
LIABILITIES 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,120,032 



 

   

                  
                      

                               

          

 ET ASSETS 
Unrestricted 
Temporarily restricted 
Permanently restricted 

TOTAL  ET ASSETS 

$ 743,949 
46,325 

-
790,274 

TOTAL LIABILITIES A D  ET ASSETS 1,910,306 



     
  

   

  

   
               

                 
                               

                 
                               
                               

                               

     

  
 

               
                 

                               

  
                 

                      

    

       

    
                      
                      

                               
                               

                               
                        

      

                            

    

                      

  
 

         

-

TOTAL OPERATI G REVE UE  8,586,111 

EXPE SES

-

 Total Program Services  6,837,669 

TOTAL EXPE SES  8,427,289 

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FROM OPERATIO S  158,822 

SUPPORT A D OTHER REVE UE
-

TOTAL SUPPORT A D OTHER REVE UE  23,656 

$ -

CHA GE I   ET ASSETS  182,478 

46,325 

 Interest and Other Income $ 9,630  $ 
 Contributions and Grants 11,494
 Fundraising Support -
 Investments -
 Donated Services -
 Other Support and  evenue 2,532

 Program Services
  egular Education $ 4,341,459  $ 

South Bronx Early College Academy Charte 
Statement of Activities 

as of June 30 

2019 
Unrestricted Temporarily

Restricted 

OPERATI G REVE UE
 State and Local Per Pupil  evenue -  eg. Ed $ 4,985,617  $ 
 State and Local Per Pupil  evenue - SPED 1,631,090
 State and Local Per Pupil Facilities  evenue -
 Federal Grants 1,969,404
 State and City Grants -
 Other Operating Income -
 Food Service/Child Nutrition Program -

 Special Education 2,496,210
 Other Programs -

 Management and general 1,571,490
 Fundraising 18,130

 et Assets Released from Restrictions / Loss on $ -
   

 ET ASSETS - BEGI  I G OF YEAR $ 743,949  $ 



                                                              

      

- -PRIOR YEAR/PERIOD ADJUSTME TS 

 ET ASSETS - E D OF YEAR  $ 926,427 $ 46,325 



    

             
               

                              
               

                              
                              
                              

             
               

                              

               

                    

                           
                             

                              
                              
                              

                      

                            

             

er School 

2018 
Total Total

 $ 4,985,617 $ 4,726,872
 1,631,090 1,350,528

 - -
1,969,404 1,806,560

 - -
- -
- -

8,586,111 7,883,960 

$ 4,341,459 $ 4,515,760
 2,496,210 2,044,423

 - -
6,837,669 6,560,183 
1,571,490 1,549,405

 18,130 23,792
 8,427,289 8,133,380 

158,822 (249,420)

 $ 9,630 $ -
11,494 -

- -
- -
- -

2,532 9,086
 23,656 9,086 

$ - $ -

182,478 (240,334)

 $ 790,274 $ 1,030,608 



                               - -

$ 972,752 $ 790,274 



     
   

  

   
                              

                                             
                                            
                                            
                                
                                
                                            
                                            
                                  
                                  
                                
                                            
                                            
                                            
                                            
                                            

                                   

                                 
   

   
                              

                                
   

   
                                            

                                            
    

   

                                
    

South Bronx Early College Academy Charter Sch 
Statement of Cash Flows 

as of Ju 

2019 

CASH FLOWS - OPERATI G ACTIVITIES 
Increase (decrease) in net assets $ 182,478 
 evenues from School Districts -
Accounts  eceivable -
Due from School Districts -
Depreciation 279,697 
Grants  eceivable 122,348 
Due from NYS -
Grant revenues -
Prepaid Expenses 43,671 
Accounts Payable 12,592 
Accrued Expenses 209,270 
Accrued Liabilities -
Contributions and fund-raising activities -
Miscellaneous sources -
Deferred  evenue -
Interest payments -
Security Deposits (2,000) 

Deferred Rent 382,014 
 ET CASH PROVIDED FROM OPERATI G ACTIVITIES  $ 1,230,070 

CASH FLOWS - I VESTI G ACTIVITIES  $ 
Purchase of equipment (353,022) 
Other (39,338) 

 ET CASH PROVIDED FROM I VESTI G ACTIVITIES  $ (392,360) 

CASH FLOWS - FI A CI G ACTIVITIES  $ 
Principal payments on long-term debt -
Other -

 ET CASH PROVIDED FROM FI A CI G ACTIVITIES  $ -

 ET (DECREASE) I CREASE I  CASH A D CASH EQUIVALE TS $ 837,710 
Cash at beginning of year 303,437 

CASH A D CASH EQUIVALE TS AT E D OF YEAR  $ 1,141,147 



 

                            
                                            
                                            
                                            
                                
                                
                                            
                                            
                                  
                                
                                
                                            
                                
                                            
                                            
                                            
                              

                                

                              

                                

                                            

                                            
 

                                

hool 

une 30 

2018 

$ (240,334) 
-
-
-

269,474 
185,298 

-
-

13,256 
(23,571) 
290,423 

-
(60,956) 

-
-
-

$ 

(105,515) 

401,678
729,753 

$ 

$ 

(526,522) 

(25,037)
(551,559)

 $ 
-

-
$ -

$ 178,194 

125,243
 $ 303,437 



     
   
   

 
  

                                                           
                                                             
                                                                                              

 
                                           
                                                                            
                                                                            
                                                                            
                                                                            

                          
 

                          
                                        
                                                      
                                                     
                                                                            
                                                
                                                                            
                                                  
                                                        
                                                                            

                                                                             
                                                                            
                                                                            

     

South Bronx Early College Academy Charter S 
Statement of Functional Expenses 

as of June 30 

2019 
Program Services Sup 

No. of Regular Special Other Total Fundraising 
Positions Education Education Education 

Personnel Services Costs  $  $  $  $  $ 
Administrative Staf Personnel 
Instructional Personnel 

11.00 
44.00 

276,561 
1,657,513 

109,269
1,027,414

 -
-

385,830 
2,684,927 

8,742 
-

Non-Instructional Personnel 2.00 - - - - -
Total Salaries and Staf  57.00 1,934,074 1,136,683 -3,070,757 8,74  
Fringe Benefts & Payroll Taxes 
 etirement 

687,830 
-

404,248
-

-
-
1,092,078 

-
3,109 

-
Management Company Fees 
Legal Service 
Accounting / Audit Services 
Other Purchased / Professional / 
Consulting Services 

-
-
-

172,770 

-
-
-

76,508

 -
-
-
-

-
-
-

249,278 

-
-
-

-
Building and Land  ent / Lease 
 epairs & Maintenance 
Insurance 

1,051,840 
16,435 
18,951 

618,181
9,659
11,138

 -
-
-

1,670,021 
26,094 
30,089 

4,754 
74 
86 

Utilities - - - - -
Supplies / Materials 
Equipment / Furnishings 
Staf Development 
Marketing  /  ecruitment 
Technology 
Food Service 

190,886 
-

34,798 
7,621 

-
-

97,793
-

20,452
4,479

-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

288,679 
-

55,250 
12,100 

-
-

525 
-

157 
34 
-
-

Student Services - - - - -
Ofce Expense - - - - -



                                                

                                                       
  

649 Depreciation 143,685 84,446  - 228,131 
OTHE  82,569 32,623  - 115,192 -
Total Expenses  $ 4,341,459 $ 2,496,210 $ - $ 6,837,669 $ 18,130



 

                         
                                      
                                

                         
                                                      
                                                      
                                                      
                            

                                
                         
                                  
                                  
                                                      
                              
                                                      
                                
                                  
                                                      
                                                      
                                                      
                                                      

 
 

 

School 

2018 
pporting Services 
Management
and General 

Total Total 

$  $  $  $ 
591,246  599,988 985,818 1,021,634 

- -2,684,927 3,071,258 
94,143  94,143 94,143 98,653
 685,389 694,131 3,764,888 4,191,545 

243,750  246,859 1,338,937 1,130,809 
- - - -
- - - -
- - - -

140,416  140,416 140,416 191,446 
1,017 250,295 

1,017 249,233 
372,747  377,501 2,047,522 1,583,018 
5,824  5,898 31,992 43,343 
6,716  6,802 36,891 69,266 

- - - -
41,155  41,680 330,359 312,125 

- - - -
16,234  16,391 71,641 21,535 
2,702  2,736 14,836 28,087 

- - - -
- - - -
- - - -
- - - -



                              

                                  

50,917  51,566 279,697 269,474 

4,623  4,623 119,815 43,499
 $ 1,571,490 $ 1,589,620 $ 8,427,289 $ 8,133,380 



	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	
	 	

	

	 	 	
	 	

	

	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	

	 	

	 	

	

	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	 	

	

Entry 5c Additional Financial Docs 
Last updated: 11/01/2019 

The additional items listed below should be uploaded if applicable. Please explain the reason(s) if the 

items are not included. Examples might include: a written management letter was not issued; the school 
did not expend federal funds in excess of the Single Audit Threshold of $750,000; the corrective action 

plan will be submitted by the following date (should be no later than 30 days from the submission of the 

report); etc. 

Section Heading 

1. Management Letter 

https://nysed cso reports.fluidreview.com/resp/119148950/8mMIunnVv3/ 

Explanation for not uploading 

the Management Letter. 
(No response) 

2. Form 990 

(No response) 

Explanation for not uploading 

the Form 990. 
Extension filed 

3. Federal Single Audit 

Note: A copy of the Federal Single Audit must be filed with the Federal Audit Clearinghouse. Please refer 
to OMB Uniform Guidelines for the federal filing requirements. 

(No response) 

Explanation for not uploading N/A 

the Federal Single Audit. 

4. CSP Agreed Upon Procedure Report 

(No response) 

Explanation for not uploading N/A 

the procedure report. 

1 / 2 



	 	

	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	
	

5. Evidence of Required Escrow Account 

Note: For BOR schools chartered or renewed after the 2017-2018 school year, the 

escrow account per school is $100,000. 

(No response) 

Explanation for not uploading N/A 

the Escrow evidence. 

6. Corrective Action Plan 

A Corrective Action Plan for Audit Findings and Management Letter Recommendations, which must 
include: 

a. The person responsible 

b. The date action was taken, or will be taken 

c. Description of the action taken 

d. Evidence of implementation (if available) 
(No response) 

Explanation for not uploading N/A 

the Corrective Action Plan. 

2 / 2 



 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

  

  

 
  

   
    

 
 

  

 
 

 
  

 
   

  

 
  

 

 
  

 
 

Board of Trustees and Management 
South Bronx Early College Academy Charter School 
Bronx, New York 

As part of our audit of the financial statements of South Bronx Early College Academy Charter 
School (the School) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019 we wish to communicate the 
following to you. 

DraftAUDIT SCOPE AND RESULTS 

Auditor’s Responsibility Under Auditing Standards Generally Accepted in the United 
States of America and the Standards Applicable to Financial Audits Contained in 
Government Auditing Standards Issued by the Comptroller General of the United States 

10/19/2019Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States is designed to obtain 
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about the financial statements. In performing 
auditing procedures, we establish scopes of audit tests in relation to the financial statements 
taken as a whole. Our engagement does not include a detailed audit of every transaction. Our 
engagement letter more specifically describes our responsibilities. 

An audit performed in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 

These standards require communication of significant matters related to the financial statement 
audit that are relevant to the responsibilities of those charged with governance in overseeing the 
financial reporting process. Such matters are communicated in the remainder of this letter or 
have previously been communicated during other phases of the audit. The standards do not 
require the auditor to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to be 
communicated with those charged with governance. 

An audit  of the  financial statements  does not relieve management or those charged with 
governance of their responsibilities. Our engagement letter more specifically describes your 
responsibilities. 

Qualitative Aspects of Significant Accounting Policies and Practices 

Significant Accounting Policies 

The School’s significant accounting policies are described in Note 1 of the audited financial 
statements. 
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Management Judgments and Accounting Estimates 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of financial statement preparation by management, 
based on its judgments. The following areas involve significant areas of such estimates for 
which we are prepared to discuss management’s estimation process and our procedures for 
testing the reasonableness of those estimates: 

 Allowance for doubtful accounts 

Financial Statement Disclosures 

DraftThe following areas involve particularly sensitive financial statement disclosures for which we 
are prepared to discuss the issues involved and related judgments made in formulating those 
disclosures: 

 Revenue recognition 
 New accounting standards

10/19/2019Audit Adjustments 

No matters are reportable 

Auditor’s Judgments About the Quality of the Entity’s Accounting Principles 

No matters are reportable 

Other Material Communications 

Listed below are other material communications between management and us related to the 
audit: 

 Management representation letter (attached) 

OTHER MATTERS 

We observed the following matters and offer these comments and suggestions with respect to matters 
which came to our attention during the course of the audit of the financial statements.  Our audit 
procedures are designed primarily to enable us to form an opinion on the financial statements and, 
therefore, may not bring to light all weaknesses in policies and procedures that may exist.  However, these 
matters are offered as constructive suggestions for the consideration of management as part of the 
ongoing process of modifying and improving financial and administrative practices and procedures 

Board Minutes 

Best practices suggest that the board chair sign the final version of the board minutes in order to 
document approval of the minutes. 
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Significant New FASB Accounting Standards 

Revenue Recognition 

Draftafter December 15, 2018 for nonpublic entities.  The School is in the process of evaluating the impact the 
amendment will have on the financial statements.  

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) amended its standards related to revenue recognition. 
This amendment replaces all existing revenue recognition guidance and provides a single, comprehensive 
revenue recognition model for all contracts with customers.  The guidance provides a five-step analysis of 
transactions to determine when and how revenue is recognized.  Other major provisions include 
capitalization of certain contract costs, consideration of the time value of money in the transaction price 
and allowing estimates of variable consideration to be recognized before contingencies are resolved in 
certain circumstances.  The amendment also requires additional disclosure about the nature, amount, 
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts, including significant 
judgments and changes in those judgments and assets recognized from costs incurred to fulfill a contract.  
The standard allows either full or modified retrospective adoption effective for annual periods beginning 

10/19/2019
related to Topic 842 as well seeking to clarify guidance and provide more transition relief in 
certain areas. 

New Lease Accounting Standard 

FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), the long-
awaited new standard on lease accounting.  The FASB has issued various ASUs since that date 

Under the new ASU, lessees will recognize lease assets and liabilities on their balance sheet for 
all leases with terms of more than 12 months.  The new lessee accounting model retains two 
types of leases and is consistent with the lessee accounting model under existing GAAP. One 
type of lease (finance leases) will be accounted for in substantially the same manner as capital 
leases are accounted for today. The other type of lease (operating leases) will be accounted for 
(both in the income statement and statement of cash flows) in a manner consistent with today's 
operating leases. Lessor accounting under the new standard is fundamentally consistent with 
existing GAAP. 

Lessees and lessors would be required to provide additional qualitative and quantitative 
disclosures to help financial statement users assess the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash 
flows arising from leases. These disclosures are intended to supplement the amounts recorded in 
the financial statements so that users can understand more about the nature of an organization’s 
leasing activities. 

Effective Dates 

• For public business entities, not-for-profit entities that have issued, or is a conduit bond obligor 
for, securities that are traded, listed or quoted on an exchange or an over-the-counter market, and 
employee benefit plans that file financial statements within the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission, the final leases standard will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 
15, 2018 including interim periods within those fiscal years.  
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• All other entities are currently* required to adopt Topic 842 for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2019 – that is fiscal year 2020 for calendar year end entities and fiscal year 2021 
for those entities with other fiscal years.  Early application is permitted. 

*A board decision was reached by the FASB at its October 16, 2019 meeting to delay the 
effective date of Topic 842 by one year for these entities (i.e. fiscal year beginning after 
December 15, 2020). Issuance of a final ASU related to this decision is expected later in 2019. 

Implementation 

Draft 
The approved delay by FASB of the effective date of the new leases standard (ASC 842) by one 
year for private companies and most non-profit organizations is welcome relief as many of these 
entities continue to work on their implementations of the new revenue standard (ASC 606).  

However, there are certain lease implementation items to get moving on sooner rather than later: 

1. Educate yourself and key stakeholders about ASC 842 

10/19/2019 
a. Check out www.bkd.com for BKD Thoughtware resources, including articles and 

webinars related to the new standard and the related implementation efforts 

2. Early Decision Points: 

a. Transition method 

b. Practical expedients and accounting policy elections 

3. Accumulate the population of potential leases 

4. Communicate with lenders – expected impact of ASC 842 on existing debt covenants? 

5. Systems analysis – Do you need lease software? If so, vendor selection takes time 

6. Start developing the processes and controls necessary for effective implementation of the ASC 
842 as well as the ongoing accounting requirements 

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, the board of 
trustees, and others within the organization and is not intended to be and should not be used by 
anyone other than these specified parties. 

New York, New York 
October __, 2019 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	

Entry 5d Financial Services Contact Information 
Last updated: 11/01/2019 

Regents, NYCDOE and Buffalo BOE authorized schools should enter the financial contact information 

requested and upload the independent auditor's report and internal controls reports as one combined 

file. 

SOUTH BRONX EARLY COLLEGE ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOLSection Heading 

1. School Based Fiscal Contact Information 

School Based Fiscal Contact School Based Fiscal Contact School Based Fiscal Contact 
Name Email Phone 

Brian Blough   

2. Audit Firm Contact Information 

School Audit Contact School Audit Contact School Audit Contact Years Working With
Name Email Phone This Audit Firm 

Joseph Blatt   5 

3. If applicable, please provide contact information for the school's outsourced 

financial services firm. 

Firm Name Contact Mailing Email Phone Years with 
Person Address Firm 

BKD 

1 / 1 



    
          

  

     

           

     
     
                

  

            
          

   

               
            

           
            

New York State Education Department 
Request for Proposals to Establish Charter Schools Authorized by the 

Board of Regents 

2019-20 Budget & Cash Flow Template 

General Instructions and Notes for New Application Budgets and Cash Flows Templates 

1 Complete ALL SIX columns in BLUE 
2 Enter information into the GRAY cells 

3 
Cells containing RED triangles in the upper right corner in columns B through G contain guidance on 
that particular item 

4 

School district per-pupil tuition information is located on the State Aid website at 
https://stateaid.nysed.gov/charter/. Rows may be inserted in the worksheet to accomodate 
additional districts if necessary. 

5 

The Assumptions column should be completed for all revenue and expense items unless the item is 
self-explanatory. Where applicable, please reference the page number or section in the application 
narrative that indicates the assumption being made. For instance, student enrollment would 
reference the applicable page number in Section I, C of the application narrative. 



    
   

      
                        

 

 

 

 

  

   

  

 

   
     

  
    
    
    
    

  

  
    

   
  

 
   

    

      

  
    

   
   

 
     

      
    

 
  

      

  

South Bronx Early College Academy 
PROJECTED BUDGET FOR 2018-2019 

July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 

Please Note  The student enrollment data is entered below in the Enrollment Section beginning in row 155. This will populate the data in row 10. 
REGULAR SPECIAL 

EDUCATION EDUCATION 
OTHER 

MANAGEMENT & FUNDRAISING GENERAL 
TOTAL 

Total Revenue 

Total Expenses 

Net Income 

Actual Student Enrollment 

5,249,909 3,509,443 

5,445,540 2,148,928 

(195,631) 1,360,515 

236 90 

-

-

-

- -

- 962,565 

- (962,565) 

8,759,352 

8,557,033 

202,319 

326 

Total Paid Student Enrollment 236 90 326 

PROGRAM SERVICES 

REGULAR SPECIAL 
EDUCATION EDUCATION OTHER 

SUPPORT SERVICES 

MANAGEMENT & 
FUNDRAISING GENERAL TOTAL 

REVENUE 
REVENUES FROM STATE SOURCES 

Per Pupil Revenue CY Per Pupil Rate 

New York City $16,154.00 

School District 2 (Enter Name) 
School District 3 (Enter Name) 
School District 4 (Enter Name) 
School District 5 (Enter Name) 

3,812,344 1,453,860 

- -
- -
- -
- -

3,812,344 1,453,860 

-
-
-
-
-

- -
- -
- -
- -
- -

5,266,204 

-
-
-
-

5,266,204 

Special Education Revenue 

Grants 

Stimulus 

Other 
Other State Revenue 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM STATE SOURCES 

REVENUE FROM FEDERAL FUNDING 

IDEA Special Needs 

Title I 
Title Funding - Other 
School Food Service (Free Lunch) 
Grants 

Charter School Program (CSP) Planning & Implementation 

Other 
Other Federal Revenue 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM FEDERAL SOURCES 

LOCAL and OTHER REVENUE 

Contributions and Donations, Fundraising 

Erate Reimbursement 
Interest Income, Earnings on Investments, 
NYC-DYCD (Department of Youth and Community Developmt.) 
Food Service (Income from meals) 
Text Book 

Other Local Revenue 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM LOCAL and OTHER SOURCES 

TOTAL REVENUE 

1,458,110 

75,306 32,274 

1,085,000 465,000 

- -
4,972,650 3,409,244 

56,102 24,044 

146,014 62,577 

31,683 13,578 

- -

- -
- -
- -

233,799 100,199 

- -
38,460 -

5,000 -
- -
- -
- -

-
43,460 

5,249,909 3,509,443 

-

-

-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

- -

- -
- -
- -

- -
- -
- -
- -

- -
- -
- -

- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -

1,458,110 

107,580 

1,550,000 

-
8,381,894 

80,146 

208,591 

45,261 

-

-
-
-

333,998 

-
38,460 

5,000 

-
-
-
-

43,460 

8,759,352 



     
 

 

   

    
   

 

  

  
  

  

 

 
 

    
   

      
                        

 

 

 

 

  

   

  

 

South Bronx Early College Academy 
PROJECTED BUDGET FOR 2018-2019 

July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 

Please Note  The student enrollment data is entered below in the Enrollment Section beginning in row 155. This will populate the data in row 10. 
REGULAR SPECIAL MANAGEMENT & OTHER FUNDRAISING TOTALEDUCATION EDUCATION GENERAL 

Total Revenue 5,249,909 3,509,443 - - - 8,759,352 

Total Expenses 5,445,540 2,148,928 - - 962,565 8,557,033 

Net Income (195,631) 1,360,515 - - (962,565) 202,319 

Actual Student Enrollment 236 90 326 

Total Paid Student Enrollment 236 90 326 

PROGRAM SERVICES SUPPORT SERVICES 

REGULAR SPECIAL MANAGEMENT & 
EDUCATION EDUCATION OTHER FUNDRAISING GENERAL TOTAL 

EXPENSES 

ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF PERSONNEL COSTS No. of Positions 

Executive Management 
95,749 41,035 - - 34,196 170,980 

Instructional Management 
168,674 72,289 - - 26,774 267,736 

Deans, Directors & Coordinators 

185,352 79,437 - - 29,421 294,210 

- - - - - -
Operation / Business Manager 

12,978 

CFO / Director of Finance 

5,562 - - 74,160 92,700 

Administrative Staff 
29,825 12,782 - - 170,426 213,033 

492,577 211,105 334,977 1,038,659 TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF 

INSTRUCTIONAL PERSONNEL COSTS 

Teachers - Regular 
1,442,643 618,276 - - - 2,060,919 

Teachers - SPED 

476,941 - - - 476,941 

Substitute Teachers 

51,919 22,251 - - - 74,170 

- - - - - -
Specialty Teachers 

264,894 

Teaching Assistants 

113,526 - - - 378,420 

- - - - - -Aides 

1.00 

2.00 

5.00 

-

1.00 

5.00 

14 

30.00 

5.00 

2.00 

-

6.00 

-



  

 

  

 

   

   
 
   

  
    

   

 
   

  
 

    
 
  

    

    
   

      
                        

 

 

 

 

  

   

  

 

South Bronx Early College Academy 
PROJECTED BUDGET FOR 2018-2019 

July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 

Please Note  The student enrollment data is entered below in the Enrollment Section beginning in row 155. This will populate the data in row 10. 
REGULAR SPECIAL 

EDUCATION EDUCATION 
OTHER 

MANAGEMENT & FUNDRAISING GENERAL 
TOTAL 

Total Revenue 

Total Expenses 

Net Income 

Actual Student Enrollment 

5,249,909 3,509,443 

5,445,540 2,148,928 

(195,631) 1,360,515 

236 90 

-

-

-

- -

- 962,565 

- (962,565) 

8,759,352 

8,557,033 

202,319 

326 

Total Paid Student Enrollment 236 90 326 

PROGRAM SERVICES SUPPORT SERVICES 

REGULAR SPECIAL 
EDUCATION EDUCATION OTHER 

MANAGEMENT & 
FUNDRAISING GENERAL TOTAL 

Therapists & Counselors 

2.00 88,036 37,730 - - - 125,766 

Other 
2.00 108,010 46,290 - - - 154,300 

TOTAL INSTRUCTIONAL 

NON-INSTRUCTIONAL PERSONNEL COSTS 

Nurse 

Librarian 

Custodian 

47 

-
-

2.00 

1,955,502 1,315,014 

- -
- -

13,411 5,747 

-
-

-

- -
- -

- 76,632 

3,270,516 

-
-

95,790 

Security 

2.00 - - - 90,000 90,000 

Other 
TOTAL NON-INSTRUCTIONAL 

SUBTOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICE COSTS 

PAYROLL TAXES AND BENEFITS 

Payroll Taxes 
Fringe / Employee Benefits 

Retirement / Pension 

TOTAL PAYROLL TAXES AND BENEFITS 

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICE COSTS 

CONTRACTED SERVICES 

Accounting / Audit 
Legal 
Management Company Fee 

Nurse Services 

Food Service / School Lunch 

Payroll Services 

Special Ed Services 

Titlement Services (i e. Title I) 

-
4 

65 

- -
13,411 5,747 

2,461,491 1,531,866 

203,073 126,379 

307,686 191,483 

246,425 153,358 

757,184 471,220 

3,218,675 2,003,086 

- -
- -
- -
- -

105 -
10,500 -
10,000 -

2,704 -

-

-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

- -
166,632 

501,609 

- 41,383 

- 62,701 

- 50,217 

154,301 

655,910 

- 135,187 

- 24,000 

- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -

-
185,790 

4,494,965 

370,835 

561,871 

450,000 

1,382,705 

5,877,670 

135,187 

24,000 

-
-

105 

10,500 

10,000 

2,704 



     
  

 
 

     
    

  
   

  
 

   
 

 
   

 
 
 

   
   

 

  

   

     
   

  

    

  
     

 

    
   

      
                        

 

 

 

 

  

   

  

 

South Bronx Early College Academy 
PROJECTED BUDGET FOR 2018-2019 

July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 

Please Note  The student enrollment data is entered below in the Enrollment Section beginning in row 155. This will populate the data in row 10. 
REGULAR 

EDUCATION 
SPECIAL 

EDUCATION 
OTHER FUNDRAISING 

MANAGEMENT & 
GENERAL 

TOTAL 

Total Revenue 5,249,909 3,509,443 - - - 8,759,352 

Total Expenses 5,445,540 2,148,928 - - 962,565 8,557,033 

Net Income (195,631) 1,360,515 - - (962,565) 202,319 

Actual Student Enrollment 236 90 326 

Total Paid Student Enrollment 236 90 326 

PROGRAM SERVICES SUPPORT SERVICES 

REGULAR SPECIAL MANAGEMENT & 
EDUCATION EDUCATION OTHER FUNDRAISING GENERAL TOTAL 

Other Purchased / Professional / Consulting 
105,700 45,300 - - 45,000 196,000 

TOTAL CONTRACTED SERVICES 129,009 45,300 204,187 378,496 

SCHOOL OPERATIONS 

Board Expenses - - - - 5,250 5,250 

Classroom / Teaching Supplies & Materials 49,000 21,000 - - - 70,000 

Special Ed Supplies & Materials 10,500 - - - 10,500 

Textbooks / Workbooks 3,675 1,575 - - - 5,250 

Supplies & Materials other 11,760 5,040 - - - 16,800 

Equipment / Furniture - - - - - -
Telephone 29,400 4,200 - - 8,400 42,000 

Technology 63,000 9,000 - - 18,000 90,000 

Student Testing & Assessment 25,725 11,025 - - - 36,750 

Field Trips 18,375 7,875 - - - 26,250 

Transportation (student) 162 70 - - - 232 

Student Services - other 16,538 - - - 16,538 

Office Expense - - - - 57,718 57,718 

Staff Development 38,500 5,500 - - 11,000 55,000 

Staff Recruitment 7,350 1,050 - - 2,100 10,500 

Student Recruitment / Marketing 3,500 1,500 - - - 5,000 

School Meals / Lunch 13,230 5,670 - - - 18,900 

Travel (Staff) 2,100 - - - - 2,100 

Fundraising - - - - - -
Other 85,579 - - - - 85,579 

TOTAL SCHOOL OPERATIONS 351,356 100,543 102,468 554,367 

FACILITY OPERATION & MAINTENANCE 

Insurance 

Janitorial 
Building and Land Rent / Lease 

Repairs & Maintenance 

Equipment / Furniture 

Security 

Utilities 

TOTAL FACILITY OPERATION & MAINTENANCE 

DEPRECIATION & AMORTIZATION 

49,500 

40,000 

1,574,000 

60,000 

18,000 

5,000 

-
1,746,500 

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

49,500 

40,000 

1,574,000 

60,000 

18,000 

5,000 

-
1,746,500 

-
DISSOLUTION ESCROW & RESERVES / CONTIGENCY - - - - - -

TOTAL EXPENSES 5,445,540 2,148,928 962,565 8,557,033 



 

        

  
    
    
    
    

 

  

  

    
   

      
                        

 

 

 

 

  

   

  

 

(195,631) 1,360,515 - - (962,565) 202,319 

REGULAR 
EDUCATION 

SPECIAL 
EDUCATION 

TOTAL 
ENROLLED 

236 90 326 

-
-
-
-

236 90 326 

22,245 38,994 -

23,074 23,877 -

South Bronx Early College Academy 
PROJECTED BUDGET FOR 2018-2019 

July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 

Please Note  The student enrollment data is entered below in the Enrollment Section beginning in row 155. This will populate the data in row 10. 
REGULAR 

EDUCATION 
SPECIAL 

EDUCATION 
OTHER FUNDRAISING 

MANAGEMENT & 
GENERAL 

TOTAL 

Total Revenue 5,249,909 3,509,443 - - - 8,759,352 

Total Expenses 5,445,540 2,148,928 - - 962,565 8,557,033 

Net Income (195,631) 1,360,515 - - (962,565) 202,319 

Actual Student Enrollment 236 90 326 

Total Paid Student Enrollment 236 90 326 

PROGRAM SERVICES SUPPORT SERVICES 

REGULAR 
EDUCATION 

SPECIAL 
EDUCATION OTHER FUNDRAISING 

MANAGEMENT & 
GENERAL TOTAL 

NET INCOME 

ENROLLMENT - *School Districts Are Linked To Above Entries* 

New York City 

School District 2 (Enter Name) 
School District 3 (Enter Name) 
School District 4 (Enter Name) 
School District 5 (Enter Name) 

TOTAL ENROLLMENT 

REVENUE PER PUPIL 

EXPENSES PER PUPIL 



 

        

         

       

    
       

    
    
    

    
    

         

Assumptions 

DESCRIPTION OF ASSUMPTIONS - Please note assumptions when applicable 

Based on the projected per pupil rate as per NYSED. 

Conservative estimate and budgeted based on FY18-19 actuals 

Budgeted based on FY18-19 actuals 

Budgeted based on the rent of the year 

Estimated based on FY18-19 actuals 

Estimated based on FY18-19 actuals 

Estimated based on FY18-19 actuals 

Estimated based on FY18-19 actuals 

Estimated based on FY18-19 actuals 

List exact titles and staff FTE"s ( Full time eqiuilivalent) 



         
               

         
               

         
               

         
               

         
               

           
        

           
   

           
        

           
        

 

        

Assumptions 

DESCRIPTION OF ASSUMPTIONS - Please note assumptions when applicable 

Based on one FTE and 2% increase from FY18-19 actuals 
80% Time on Instructional (split 70% and 30% i.e. student population) & rest 20% for Admin 

Based on two FTE and 2% increase from FY18-19 actuals 
90% Time on Instructional (split 70% and 30% i.e. student population) & rest 10% for Admin 

Based on five FTE and 2% increase from FY18-19 actuals 
90% Time on Instructional (split 70% and 30% i.e. student population) & rest 10% for Admin 

Based on one FTE and 2% increase from FY18-19 actuals 
20% Time on Instructional (split 70% and 30% i.e. student population) & rest 80% for Admin 

Based on five FTE and 2% increase from FY18-19 actuals 
20% Time on Instructional (split 70% and 30% i.e. student population) & rest 80% for Admin 

Based on thirty FTE regular teacher and 2% increase from FY18-19 actuals 
100% Instructional (split 70% and 30% i.e. student population) 

Based on five FTE SPED teachers and 2% increase from FY18-19 actuals 
100% Spl Ed Instructional 

Based on two FTE substitute teachers and 2% increase from FY18-19 actuals 
100% Instructional (split 70% and 30% i.e. student population) 

Based on six FTE specialty teachers and 2% increase from FY18-19 actuals 
100% Instructional (split 70% and 30% i.e. student population) 



            
        

             
        

          
               

          

    
    

    

        
        

        
        
        

 

        

Assumptions 

DESCRIPTION OF ASSUMPTIONS - Please note assumptions when applicable 

Based on two FTE therapista and counselors and 2% increase from FY18-19 actuals 
100% Instructional (split 70% and 30% i.e. student population) 

Based on two FTE tutors and sumer schools and 2% increase from FY18-19 actuals 
100% Instructional (split 70% and 30% i.e. student population) 

Based on two FTE custodians and 2% increase from FY18-19 actuals 
20% Time on Instructional (split 70% and 30% i.e. student population) & rest 80% for Admin 

Based on two FTE security and 2% increase from FY18-19 actuals 

8.25% of the personnel cost 
12.5% of the personnel cost 
10% of the personnel cost 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 



          
 

        
        
        
        
        

        
        
        
        
        
        
     
        
        
        
        
        

       

        
        
       
        
        
        

 

        

Assumptions 

DESCRIPTION OF ASSUMPTIONS - Please note assumptions when applicable 

Ford Research & Solutions ($45k), DragonPath ($126K), TANA Communications ($5K), and 
Other ($20K) 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Office Expense ($50K) and Postage ($7.7K) 
Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Meeting/School Events ($30K), Printing ($50K), and Other ($5K) 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the Building and Parking Lot lease 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 

Based on the FY18-19 actuals and a 2% increase 



 

        

Assumptions 

DESCRIPTION OF ASSUMPTIONS - Please note assumptions when applicable 



















































	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	
	

	 	
	

	

Entry 8 BOT Table 
Created: 07/25/2019 • Last updated: 07/30/2019 

1. SUNY AUTHORIZED charter schools are required to provide information for VOTING Trustees only. 
2. REGENTS, NYCDOE, and BUFFALO BOE AUTHORIZED charter schools are required to provide 

information for all VOTING and NON VOTING trustees. 

1. Current Board Member Information (Enter info for each BOT member) 

Trustee 
Name 
and 
Email 
Address 

Davon 1 Russell 

Felicia 2 Franklin 

Nancy3 Biberman 

Jodi 
Benjamin 

4 
Schneide 
r 

Position 
on the 
Board 

Chair 

Treasurer 

Secretary 

Trustee/M
ember 

Committ 
ee 
Affiliation 
s 

Educatio 
n 
Committ 
ee, 
Finance 
Committ 
ee, 
Personnel 
Committ 
ee, 
Executive 
Committ 
ee 

Finance 
Committ 
ee, 
Executive 
Committ 
ee 

Executive 
Committ 
ee 

Personnel 
Committ 
ee 

Voting
Member 

Number 
of Terms 

Per By
Laws 

Served 

(Y/N) 

Yes 2 

Yes 2 

Yes 2 

Yes 2 

Start 
Date of 
Current 
Term 
(MM/DD/Y
YYY) 

07/1/201
8 

07/01/20
18 

07/01/20
16 

07/01/20
16 

End Date 
of 
Current 
Term 
(MM/DD/Y
YYY) 

Board 
Meetings
Attended 
During
2018 19 

06/30/20
21 

11 

06/30/20
21 

8 

06/30/20
19 

06/30/20
19 

6 

10 

Educatio Dr. Trustee/M n 07/01/20 06/30/20Valerie Yes 2ember Committ 16 19 Capers ee 

1 / 3 

5 7 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

6 
Lori 
Chemla 

Trustee/M
ember 

7 
Andrea 
Cohen 

Trustee/M
ember 

8 
Serigne
Gningue 

Trustee/M
ember 

9 

1a. Are there more than 9 

members of the Board of 
Trustees? 

Finance 
Committ 
ee, 
Personnel 
Committ 
ee 

Finance 
Committ 
ee, 
Personnel 
Committ 
ee 

Educatio 
n 
Committ 
ee 

No 

Yes 2 
07/01/20
16 

06/30/20
19 

9 

Yes 2 
07/01/20
18 

06/30/20
21 

8 

Yes 2 
07/01/20
17 

06/30/20
20 

6 

2. INFORMATION ABOUT MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

1. SUNY-AUTHORIZED charter schools provide response relative to VOTING Trustees only. 
2. REGENTS, NYCDOE, and BUFFALO BOE-AUTHORIZED charter schools provide a response 

relative to all trustees. 

a. Total Number of BOT Members on 
June 30, 2019 

b.Total Number of Members Added 
During 2018 19 

c. Total Number of Members who 
Departed during 2018 19 

d.Total Number of members in 2018 19, 
as set by in Bylaws, Resolution or
Minutes 

3. Number of Board meetings 

held during 2018-19 

8 

0 

0 

8 

12 

2 / 3 



	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	

4. Number of Board meetings 12 

scheduled for 2019-20 

Thank you. 

3 / 3 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	 	 	

Entry 9 - Board Meeting Minutes 
Created: 08/01/2019 • Last updated: 08/30/2019 

Instructions for submitting minutes of the BOT monthly meetings 

Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE authorized schools must either provide a link to a complete set of 
minutes that are posted on the charter school website, or upload a complete set of board meeting 

minutes from July 2018 June 2019, which should match the number of meetings held during the 2018 19 

school year. 

SOUTH BRONX EARLY COLLEGE ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 

Are all monthly BOT meeting Yes 

minutes posted, which should 

match the number of meetings 

held during 2018-19 school year, 
on the charter school's website? 

A. Provide if posted on the https://sbecacs.org/about/board documents/ 
charter school's website a URL 

link to the Monthly Board 

Meeting Minutes, which should 

match the number of meetings 

held during the 2018-19 school 
year. 

1 / 1 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Entry 10 Enrollment and Retention of Special 
Populations 
Created: 07/25/2019 • Last updated: 08/26/2019 

Instructions for Reporting Enrollment and Retention Strategies 

Describe the efforts the charter school has made in 2018 19 toward meeting targets to attract and retain 

enrollment of students with disabilities, English language learners/Multilingual learners, and students who 

are economically disadvantaged. In addition, describe the school’s plans for meeting or making progress 

toward meeting its enrollment and retention targets in 2019 20. 

SOUTH BRONX EARLY COLLEGE ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOLSection Heading 
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Recruitment/Attraction Efforts Toward Meeting Targets 

Describe Recruitment Efforts in 2018 19 Describe Recruitment Plans in 2019 20 

Econom 
ically
Disadva 
ntaged 

English
Langua 
ge
Learner 
s/Multili
ngual
Learner 
s 

Student 
s with 
Disabilit 
ies 

The school sent mailings, posted flyers and
held open house sessions. The majority of
our students qualify for free and reduced
lunch and we provide snack, free school
supplies, and social services and family 
support. 

The school sent mailings, posted flyers and
held open house sessions. We provide all of
our messaging in both English and Spanish
and provide French translation for our
students that need it. 

The school sent mailings, posted flyers and
held open house sessions. We are an
integrated co teaching environment so we
believe and promote inclusion and students
receiving support for their diverse needs in
each classroom. 

The school sent mailings, posted flyers and
held open house sessions, and reaching out
to returning parents. We also visited other
schools, both DOE and Charter, to encourage
families to apply. The majority of our
students qualify for free and reduced lunch.
We provide snack, free school supplies, and
social services and family support. We
provide uniforms for families in need and
hope to offer food and possibly laundry
services. We also are looking into a grant
that provides wifi hotspots for families that
do not have internet services in their homes. 
We hope that this welcoming and supportive
environment helps enrollment. 

The school sent mailings, posted flyers and
held open house sessions, and reaching out
to returning parents. We went to solons,
community centers, churches, and local
businesses with our information. We also 
visited other schools, both DOE and Charter, 
to encourage families to apply. We provide all
of our messaging in both English and Spanish
and provide French translation for our
students that need it. We are partnering with
PS 333 and hopefully other area schools to
bolster recruitment. We have also explored a
lottery priority and will monitor enrollment
and discuss this with our board and 
authorizer. 

The school sent mailings, posted flyers and
held open house sessions, and reaching out
to returning parents. We also visited other
schools, both DOE and Charter, to encourage
families to apply. We are an integrated co
teaching environment so we believe and
promote inclusion and students receiving
support for their diverse needs in each
classroom. We are partnering with a local
public elementary school, PS 333 to create a
bridge and pathway, especially for SWDs to
come to an environment that is supportive of
their needs. 

Retention Efforts Toward Meeting Targets 
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Describe Retention Efforts in 2018 19 Describe Retention Plans in 2019 20 

Faculty reached out to parents on a regularEconom basis. Support and outreach also provided byically WHEDco family support services. The SchoolDisadva held weekend events planned by the schoolntaged counselor. 

Faculty reached out to parents on a regular
basis. 
Support and out reach also provided byEnglish WHEDco Langua family support services. The School heldge weekend Learner events planned by school counselor. Wes/Multili providengual all of our messaging in both English andLearner Spanishs and provide French translation for our
students 
that need it. 

Faculty reached out to parents on a regular
basis. 
Support and outreach also provided by 

Faculty will reach out to parents on a regular
basis. 
Support and outreach will also be provided
by WHEDco family support services. The
School will hold monthly workshops for
families and school celebrations that will also 
help to provide wrap
around family support. Students will receive
intervention services during the school day
and after school and weekends. We provide
families with the resources needed for their 
students to be successful. This could be 
pencils, notebooks, uniforms, additional food,
and a backpack, etc. We provide uniforms for
families in need and hope to offer food and
possibly laundry services. We also are
looking into a grant that provides wifi
hotspots for families that do not have
internet services in their homes. We hope
that this welcoming and supportive
environment helps retention. 

Faculty will reach out to parents on a regular
basis. 
Support and outreach will also be provided
by
WHEDco fam ily support services. The School
will 
hold monthly workshops for families and
school 
celebrations that will also help to provide 
wrap
around family support. Students will receive
intervention services during the school day
and 
after school and weekends. We translate 
information at events and in print for
parents.We are partnering with PS 333 and
hopefully other area schools to bolster
recruitment. We have also explored a lottery
priority and will monitor enrollment and
discuss this with our board and authorizer. 

Faculty will reach out to parents on a regular
basis. Support and outreach will also be
provided
by WHEDco family support services. The
School 
will hold monthly workshops for families and
school celebrations that will also help to
provide
wrap around family support. Students will 
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Student WHEDco 
s with family support services. The School held
Disabilit weekend 
ies events planned by school counselor. The

Director 
of Student Support contacts families
regularly. 

receive 
intervention services during the school day
and 
after school and weekends. We are an 
integrated
co teaching environment so we believe and
promote inclusion and students receiving
support for their diverse needs in each
classroom. We will provide IEP workshops so
families truly understand their child's
learning plan and how we are supporting and
how they can support the learning as well. 
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Entry 11 Classroom Teacher and Administrator 

Attrition 
Created: 07/25/2019 • Last updated: 08/26/2019 

Report changes in teacher and administrator staffing. 

Instructions for completing the Classroom Teacher and Administrator Attrition Tables 

Charter schools must complete the tables titled 2018-2019 Classroom Teacher and 

Administrator Attrition to report changes in teacher and administrator staffing 

during the 2018-2019 school year. Please provide the full time equivalent (FTE) of 

staff on June 30, 2018; the FTE for any departed staff from July 1, 2018 through June 

30, 2019; the FTE for added staff from July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019; and the 

FTE of staff added in newly created positions from July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019 

using the tables provided. 

1. Classroom Teacher Attrition Table 

FTE Classroom FTE Classroom FTE Classroom 
Teachers on 
6/30/18 

Teachers 
Departed 7/1/18
 6/30/19 

Teachers Filling
Vacant Positions 
7/1/18  6/30/19 

26 0 1 

2. Administrator Position Attrition Table 

FTE 
Administrative 
Positions on 
6/30/18 

7 

FTE 
Administrators 
Departed 7/1/18
 6/30/19 

1 

FTE 
Administrators 
Filling Vacant
Positions 7/1/18
 6/30/19 

1 

FTE Classroom FTE of 
Teachers Added Classroom 
in New Positions Teachers on 
7/1/18 6/30/19 6/3019 

2 29 

FTE FTE 
Administrators Administrative 
Added in New Positions on 
Positions 7/1/18

6/30/19 
6/30/19 

1 8 
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3. Tell your school's story 

Charter schools may provide additional information in this section of the Annual 
Report about their respective teacher and administrator attrition rates as some 

teacher or administrator departures do not reflect advancement or movement within 

the charter school networks. Schools may provide additional detail to reflect a 

teacher’s advancement up the ladder to a leadership position within the network or 

an administrator’s movement to lead a new network charter school. 

After receiving guidance from the authorizer, many staff members weren't invited back in order to 

restructure & address insufficient proficiency. This included school leadership as well. Year four,18 19, 
saw the school stabilize. All faculty and staff who were asked to return at the end of year 4 plan to return 

in year 5. Only one teacher was not invited back  this after her performance did not sufficiently improve 

after being put on an improvement plan, being provided coaching, and mentoring. Reporting practices 

also changed from 17 18 to 18 19 (full explanation will be emailed to authorizing team). 

4. Charter schools must ensure that all prospective employees receive clearance 

through the NYSED Office of School Personnel Review and Accountability (OSPRA) 

prior to employment. After an employee has been cleared, schools are required to 

maintain proof of such clearance in the file of each employee. For the safety of all 
students, charter schools must take immediate steps to terminate the employment of 

individuals who have been denied clearance. Once the employees have been 

terminated, the school must terminate the request for clearance in the TEACH 

system. 

Have all employees have been cleared through the NYSED TEACH system? 

Yes 

5. For perspective or current employees whose clearance has been denied, have you 

terminated their employment and removed them from the TEACH system? 

Not Applicable 

Thank you 
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Entry 12 Uncertified Teachers 
Created: 07/31/2019 • Last updated: 08/01/2019 

Instructions for Reporting Percent of Uncertified Teachers 

The table below is reflective of the information collected through the online portal for 
compliance with New York State Education Law 2854(3)(a-1) for teaching staff 
qualifications. Enter the relevant full time equivalent (FTE) count of teachers in each 

column. For example, a school with 20 full time teachers and 5 half time teachers 

would have an FTE count of 22.5. If more than one column applies to a particular 
teacher, please select one column for the FTE count. Please do not include 

paraprofessionals, such as teacher assistants. 

FTE count of uncertified teachers on 6/30/18, and each uncertified teacher should be 

counted only once. 

1. Total FTE count of uncertified teachers (6 30 19) 

2. FTE count of uncertified teachers with at least three years
of elementary, middle or secondary classroom teaching
experience (6 30 19) 

3. FTE count of uncertified teachers who are tenured or 
tenure track college faculty (6 30 19) 

4. FTE count of uncertified teachers with two years of Teach
for America experience (6 30 19) 

5. FTE count of uncertified teachers with exceptional
business, professional, artistic, athletic, or military
experience (6 30 19) 

6. FTE count of uncertified teachers who do not fit into any
of the prior four categories (6 30 19) 

FTE Count of All Uncertified 

Teachers as of 6/30/19 

8 

FTE Count of All Certified 

Teachers as of 6/30/19 

21 

Thank you. 

FTE Count 

8 

7 

0 

0 

2 

1 
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Board of Trustees 

Principal 

Director of Student Support Director of School Culture 
Director of Operations & 

Data 

Vice Principal of English 
Language Arts 

Vice Principal of 
Math & Science 

Director of HR & Budget 

Security 
Guard 

ELL Teachers/ 
Coordinator 

SPED 
Teachers 

Custodian Operations 
Coordinators 

Teachers 

Social Emotional Learning Team 
(Dean, Social Workers, Parent 

Coordinator, Guidance Counselor) 

Graduate Students 
(Placed by Higher 

Education Partners) 

Coaching Coaching 

Coordinating 
Support 





   

    

 

 

 

 

ENTRY 9 - BOARD OF TRUSTEES MONTHLY MEETING MINUTES 
E9 - Complete (C) or Incomplete (I) 
BOT Monthly Meeting Minutes Complete 

Please see school’s responses in RED. 

1) The board should ensure that its practices at board meetings conform to the requirements of the law. 
The Board has used Executive Session in accordance with Open Meetings Law, as the Board understands it, but has failed to 
document the allowable reasons in the meeting minutes and will do so more clearly moving forward. Executive Sessions have dealt 
with sensitive personnel matters, such as those listed in section 105 – f of Open Meetings Law: “the medical, financial, credit or 
employment history of a particular person or corporation, or matters leading to the appointment, employment, promotion, demotion, 
discipline, suspension, dismissal or removal of a particular person or corporation;” 
2) The August 2018 minutes are missing. 
The Board did not convene in August 2018, due to issues with achieving a quorum, but has successfully held two summer meetings in 
2019, and is on schedule to meet 12 times during the current fiscal year. The Board is committed to meeting 12 times per year moving 
forward. 
3) The minutes do not all contain a record or summary of all motions, proposals, resolutions and any other matter formally voted upon 
and the vote thereon. For example, the September 2018 minutes reflect that the board went into executive session, without information 
regarding the motion/vote, or the reason for entering the session. All votes are taken in public meetings. Executive Sessions have been 
used for Board discussion on sensitive topics, but Board action has always taken place in public and is documented accordingly. 
Moving forward, the Board will properly document the reason for entering Executive Session to ensure transparency.   
4) The July 2019 meeting minutes were not posted to the website - only the agenda was posted as of early August. These minutes have 
since been added to the website. The Board typically waits until the meeting minutes are approved at the following meeting before 
making the minutes public. All Board meeting minutes (except August 6, 2019, which are not yet approved) are published on the 
school’s website. 

*Also, the school is currently interviewing candidates for board positions that have educational experience. This will add to board 
capacity and ensure quorum will be reached every meeting. 



  
 

 

Explanation FTE Teachers 18 Annual Report vs 19 Annual Report 

In last year’s annual report, teachers were not defined correctly (by our schools previous 
administration). We looked into all records that we could access found reporting errors. If 
there is a way that we could amend a past annual report, we would like to do that. The 
school did not have 56 FTE classroom teachers on 6/30/17 or 49 FTE classroom teachers 
in June 2018. See image from 2017-2018 Annual Report Below: 

For the 2018-2019 Annual Report, we made the necessary changes, because Teacher 
Assistants and other support staff were counted in the past.  Our desire is to accurately 
report the numbers that show the most accurate, authentic picture of our staff to the best 
of our ability. 

This year we have audited certifications and professional credentials (as seen in snapshot 
below). It would not be accurate or realistically sustainable for the school with a student 



population of around 330 to be able to staff  56 teachers. We would be happy to share this 
data with you, if you would like. 




